History of Great Eccleston

Great Eccleston is of great historic significance. It
appeared in the Domesday Book as “Eglestun”, and at
the time was larger than the surrounding villages, with
it being referred to in the eighteenth century as“Little
London”. Eglestun” means “Church settlement”
however there is no record of a Saxon Church.

Nowadays, with the agricultural changes and the
development of communication the village has turned
it into a commuter haven.

The population has soared from 600 to over 1,700 inhabitants (Office or National Statistics,
2011 census).

The Village is thriving and there are numerous
businesses within the Village.There is The Village
Centre, Health Centre, Dentist, Supermarket,
Butcher, Post Office, Cafe and Tea Room, Estate
Agent, Fish and Chip Shop and Restaurant, Italian
Restaurant, Architects Office, Fruit and Vegetable
shop, and three Public Houses, Bakers, three
Hairdressers, Newsagents and an Off Licence.
Ladies Dress Shop and Gents Outfitters, Gents
Barbers and DIY Shop. There is also the Women'’s
Institute and three Places of Worship.

Great Eccleston also has a long sporting tradition and can claim to have had a bowling green
since the 18th century. We have recently received a grant from Wyre Council who have
upgraded the children’s play area on the playing field.

The Village has a long association with agriculture and it is fitting that the major event in the
village is the annual Agricultural Show. In recent years the show has been well supported
and attracts in excess of 40,000 visitors. The Great Eccleston Tractor Pulling Course, is rated
as one of the best in Europe. This was the venue for last year’s European Championships.

The Square has always been the hub of the village, being a convenient gathering place. It
was once the site of annual horse fairs and the pre-1914 Club Day gathered here. Until 1939,
it also accommodated the fair each September at the time of the Agricultural Show. The
weekly market takes place every Wednesday. We have an Annual Fun Day in August every
year, this is organised by the Businesses with the help of the public. Although the Square is
now macadamised, it was once cobbled.
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CHAPTER 1

Great Eccleston 1066-1970)

Great Eccleston is a picturesque village in the centre of the
Fylde plain. Compared with Blackpool (10 miles), Preston (12
miles), and Garstang (6 miles), the village changed very little in
the Inst century and it is hard to imagine how, in the 17th and

[Bth cemturies it got the name “Little London™ because it was a
social centre,

Agtractive couniry roads spread out from the village, with the
main ASE6 going west 1o Poulton-le-Fylde and Blackpool and
cast (o 5t Michaels and Garstang. east and south are roads to
Imskip, west to Little Eccleston and the Owver Wyre arca, crossing
the River Wyre by Cartford Toll Bridge, and south a road leads
through Copp to Elswick and Thistleton,

The old Blackpool-Garstang foad wound its way through Little
Eccleston and Great Eccleston, but when the A586 was built more
thap 30 years ago the village was by-passed and for many vears
Blackpool-bound motorists hurtled past, often unaware that a
village existed. MNow times are again changing When Great
Eocleston won the Community Council of Lancashire Best Kept
Village Competition in 1963 many Penph came to see the village
and explore the country walks which public footpaths provided.
Each of the village inns — the Farmers Arms (which won the Best
Kept Inn in Lamcashire award in 1965), the Black Bull and the
White Bull hawe their own atmosphere and couniry charm
and draw people oul from the towns for an evening drink.

VILLAGE INNS

Great Ecclesion has never been a “dry™ village. Tales linger of
two inns — the Red Lion and the White Lion, one of which was
at the bottom of Barrows Lane, but all trace of these has
vanished. The garden at the cormer of Leckonmby Sirest and
Chesham Streel was once the village bowling green and the house
and supermarket on the opposite comer were once The Bowling
Green — a popular village inn. There was a record of James
Opden, licensee, renewing his licence at the Kirkland sesions on
Tuesday, 23rd September, 1523,

At the same sessions William Bennelt rencwed his licence for
the White Bull and John Parkinson rengwed his for the Black
Bull. Each licencee was bound over in the sum of £30 to keep the
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peace, with a second man standing £20, Among the things they
promised not 1o do was * suffer any gaming with cards, draughts,
dice. bagatelle or any other sedentary game . . . or suffer any
bull, bear or badger baiting, cock fighting or other such sport or
amusements on his premises; nor shall knowingly or designediy
and with a view to harbour or entertain such, permit or suffer men
or women of notoriously bad fame, or dissolute girls and bovs, 1o
assemble and meet together in his house . . . nor permit or suffer
any drinking or tipp in%. . . during the usual hours of Divine
Service on Sundays™ They alo had 10 undertake not to allow
drinking laie ai nights or early in the mornings.

The Furmers Arms is also a very old inn and has grown in the
last 20 years from a tiny one-room bar into a spacious place. The
small room at the far end of the bar was once used for making
beer — home brew being a feature of the inn for many years, The
garden room, where there is & small fish pond and fountain, was,
ag the mame suggests, once the small garden of the inn, Many local
people still remember the place as Ann Garlick’s as this lady
owned it until 1927, That year she sold it to Mr, Dennis Wilbert,
who 15 years later sold it to Dutton’s Brewery,

The Black and White Bulls face one another across the village
square, a focal point in Greal Eccleston. Here the village gala
quezn crowning 1% held annually, and the round-abouts and side
stalls of the fair have crowded onto the tarmac area for the
agriculiural show, In recent years the Parish Council have
registered 1their ownership of both the square and the village
p_i;lil‘n:-]ui1 ensuring that they would be kept as common land for the
village.

In a field to the right of Copp Lane, behind Lackonby House, is
a small square stone building. There are no records of if, but it
was once a dove cote, probably buill about the 17th ceniury,
betonging to either Sguire Mrance {alzo spelt Flrance and France)
of Rawelife Hall, or the Leckonby's. In those days all canle,
e:mgl a few for breeding. were killed at the onset of winter, and
the doves were used during the cold months as fresh meat, The
bricks of the cote are set at different angles, giving the birds a
rﬁmlﬁ place in the wall. The lantern top, which opens, is
probably of a later date — the old fop being wooden slats through
which birds could fly in and out,

The village butchers started in a small wooden hut, but now
a spotless modern brick building has replaced the hut and there
are extensive buildings for the abattoir which provides meat for
many of the Fylde's shops. Mr, William Ball and his son run the
business — and in 1969 were awarded the Best Kept Shop in
Lancashire award. The house to the right of the shop was once the
village post office.
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One relic of the past is the Finfold, opposite the entrance to
Butts Lane, For many years it was leased to the owner of the
adjacent cottage and gradually fell into bad repair, but when the
County Council ook it owver they repaired it (under pressure from
the Parish Council) and fitted a green door with a notice * pinfold.™
Pinfolds were used by the Pinder to impound stray horses and
cattle found on the King’s Highway. (Pinfolds are also called
Penfolds, or Pounds). Out of sight of visitors and residents alike
is another relic, also in West End. The rear window of one of a
row of cottages still has iron bars across it, an echo of the time
when il was used as the village prison. The room is now a bed-
room — | wonder how many other people, living at home, can
claim to sleep in a cell?

EARLY BUS SERVICES

Newcomers may misunderstand or consider “quaint™ a village
habit of apﬂi:in-.g of “going away"” when they are going to Preston
for a day's shopping, but looking at the stery of the village bus
services this is explained. There are few records of early bas
companies, but in the memory of older residents buses out of (he
village were a twice weekly event, making a trip 1o Preston almast
a journcy to the unknown. Tn 1920, B. A. Tootell & Sons started
a twice-weekly service to the village from Preston, and in May
1924 it became a limited company — Viking Motors Lid, of
Preston,

Five years later Viking Motors took over Royal Blue, a
company which, owned by the Whiteside Brothers of Great
Eccleston, ran services to Elswick, Preston and for a short time
through to Fleetwood, West End House has a wider drive and
larger ﬁ-m@: than neighbouring houses in West End because
Roval Blue's bus was kept there. Viking Motors gradually in-
creased to an hourly service, and were taken over by Ribble Motor
Services Lad. in November 1952, the same year the 180 Preston-
Cireat Eccleston service was siaried. Four wears later this route
was extended to Cleveleys. Since early 1970, buses to the village
have been greatly reduced for economic reasons.

Mr. Ernest Smith, of Elswick, pioneered the route from
Garstang to Blackpool before 1920 with his Pilgrim Motor Services.
Ribhle wook over Pilgrim in July, 1927 and have operated the
Blackpool-Garstang route ever since, A Mr. Ted | and a
Mr. Winford Titterton both ran services before Pilgrim, Viking
and Royal Blue, but how frequently their services ran or where
Lo is hard to discover.



CHAPTER 11

Families and their Homes

The carliest reference to Great Eccleston is made in the
Domesday Book — the village is probably one of two places called
Eglestun™ which belonged to the fee of Garstang or Wyresdals
In * The History of the County of Lancaster * is a reference to an
Earl Tostig holding * Great Manors Eccleston, assessed as two
ploughshares, as a member of his Preston Lordship,” in 1066, The
tenants m 1212 were Ralph de Eccleston, and Walter, son of

tEf:aEn}. Lord of Carleton. (Carleton is an area of Poulton-le-Fylde
i:.r 3

It is hard to find any mention of the village in history books —
only the Leckenby family (of which more ?:IEI‘} were important
enough to be written about al any length. Not only would the
majority of the population be illiterate. but they were mainly
farmers, concerned with tilling the land and growing their wheat,
oals, barley, beans and rushes. Rushes were a staple commodity in
this part of the Fylde, growing well in the marshy ground, and
rush !iﬁhbmnlﬁng was & local industry, A rush-bearing ceremony
was held annually at Copp Church when the rushes on the floor
were renewed. This custom combined the practical aspect of
cleaning with thanksgiving, The thnh;ivl:q{‘ﬂrﬁa: was revived
o few years ago — a piciuresque ceremon n the children carry
symbolic bundles of rushes into the church.

Porter, in his “History of the Fylde of Lancashire™ (1878) wrote
that Great Eccleston was anciently held by William de Lancacter
as an appendage of the fee of Wyresdale and then passed (o
Walter de Lindsay, the eldest son of his second sster, Alice, This
line ended with Christina de Lindsay, living in 1300, who married
Ingelram de Guynes, Lord of Coucy, in France. Their second and
third sons, William and Robernt de Coucy, held Great Eccleston
as part of their Wyresdale inheritance in 1346,

Porter goes on (o say that in about 1600 Thomas Swanley, an
flegitimate son of the fourth Earl of Derby, settled at Great
Eccleston Hall, which, together with the estate, was probably

rchased., His descendants remained there untl the death of
Ellr_hard Stanley in 1714, when Thomas Westhy, of Upper
Rawcliffe, gained ion of the land, It seems probable that a
family called Eccleston lived at the hall before the Stanleys, but
no proof can be found of this



In the Testa de Nevilke, Adam de Ecclision, William de
Molineus and Hugh de Longford held the sixth part of 2 knight's
fee in Eccliston, rebreck (now Larbreck) and Kathale (now
Canerall, and a ph de Eccliston held land in the wwo
Ecclistons and Lairbrec. In the ™ Derby Houschold Books ™ a
reference is made to a Mr., Eccleston of Greal Eccleston, Esq,,
dining with Lord Derby, with a fooinote: * Henry Eccleston of
Cireat Eccleston, Esq., the head of an ancient house in the Fylde,
and Lo be distinguished from the Ecclestons of Eccleston near
Prescot, marnied Mary, daughter of John Osbaldeston, Esq., by
whom he had issue five sons and four daughiers.” The remains of
a moat can be seen arpund the farmhouse, which is still called
Gireat Eccleston Hall, The estates were owned by a Jacobite in
1716, and were advertised for sale in 1796,

SECRET PASSAGES AND LEGENDS

Most houses in the Fylde of any antiquity lay claim to either a

priecst hole or secrei passage, Many of these tales have no
foundation in fact, of some only records remain, but a few are
preserved to this day.

Great Eccleston is no exceplion and Great Eccleston Hall
claims a secrel passage running wnder the river to Whitchall
Farm — about half & mile upstream from Carford Bridge. In the
cellar of the hall is the old passage entrance, bricked up many
vears ago when the river Aooded the passage.

A tale sl lingers of a man-servant of the Westhy's, owners of
Whitchall farm from about 150¢-1857, who was involved in the
Battle of Preston during the 1715 Jacobite invasion, Flecing from
the bautle field on a picbald horse he passed through Great
Eccleston, crossed the river, and vanished, His pursuers, who were
close on his heels, searched without success while the servant hid
close by im a secret stable — a kind of cave-cellar. From there he

fater used the secrel passage to Great Eccleston Hall o escape
from the area.

When the Westhy's sold the farm in 1857, rumour has it the
new farmer found a large tunncl 1udim underground while
digging the foundations for a new barn. went down a short
way with a candle, bul seeing no end to the passage came out and
filled that end in.

There is a rumour that the paved foor of a small building
which lies under o few feet of carth was once a cell used by the
notorious Singleton witch Meg Shelton, bul this would appear 1o be
just a take.



BONFIRE NIGHT 15874

A true fale of a young man in 1874 puts the exploits of today's
hippies and skinheads in the shade. Young Squire Wilson france,

son of Squire firance of Rawcliffe Hall was known for his riotous
and bawdy exploits, but Guy Fawkes night 1874 was his most
outrageous, His 2151 birthday was still a few months off — ithe
following January — and until then he had littde sibility, so
he decided to have a bonfire that would be remembered. Armed
with 15 gallons of paraffin he, his friends and (wo young ladies
from London (if they could be called “ladies™) made their way
over Cartford Bridge 1o a windmill which stood on a small mound
close 1o Meagles Lane on the AS86. The mill was owned by
Mr. Crook, who also ran Wall Pool water mill at ihé bottom of
the hill. He pleaded with the young men for 24 hours 1o move his
sacks of com and some new machinery, but the Squire was im-
patient and, igniting the mill, he Jed his companions in a dance
round the burning structure,

In his book * More Windmill Land,” Allan Clarke ris that
Mr. Parkinson, then a resident of Wall Farm, remembered the
fire and told how the flames could be seen s far away as Black-
pood, Fleetwood and Preston, and it burped for three days, OF
course, the miller had to be compensated and, as there are no
records of court procesdings, it seems possible that Squire Mrance,
realising that publicity about his son would not be to the family
credit, seitled out of court. Mr. Clarke adds that nicknames for the

oung squire included * the Rawcliffe Infant ™ and * Mad Jack™
voung man died 22 vears after this exploit, aged 43,

CARTFORD BRIDGE

As the name might suggest, there was originally a ford at the
site of Cartford Bridge. In 1829, a plan was made for a
stone bridge over the river, which would have required an Act of
Parliament, This was abandoned, but in about 1831 the first bridge
was built (without an Act of Parliament) by Squire france — a
structure of asphalt and wooden s rs with & metal cart track
down the centre. In 1928, Rawcliffe Hall Estate was split up and
sold by auction at the Metropole Hotel, Blackpool, and the part
which included the bridge was bought by Mr, William Binks, a
retired hay and corn merchant from Blackpool (and formerly of
Ossett, Yorkshire), He floated a private limited company and in
1929 the decking of the bridge was demolished and replaced with
& stcel and concrete struciure,



The tolls have remained unchanged since the company took
over, but will have to be adjusted when decimal currency comes
into operation,

THE LECKONBY'S

Just off the village square, in Leckonby Sireet, is Leckonby
House. The present house was originally the stables of the home
of the Leckonby family, who were grean landowners until nearl
200 years ago, Their family coat of arms was a rampant b
woll between three green trefoils.

In 1641, the authorities decided 1o screen all Roman Catholics,
and everyone was invited to sign a declaration thal they would
" maintain the Protestant religion against all Popish innovations.”
The Leckonby's wers a st Roman Catholic family but John
Leckonby (the first of the family to live in the village, and
recorded as a “free tenant” in 1621) and his son Richard si ]
But Richard, a churchwarden, was a recusant — one who refused
to attend Church of England services as the law required — and
he had to pay & fine of £58 1o keep his extate.

“Our Country Churches and Chapels ™ carmrics a reference
td a village tradition that Leckonby House once sustained a
sicge. “Although few particulars are given, we may surmise that it
ook place during the passage of the Earl of Derby's troops through
this part of the country in their march on Lancaster in 1643, John
Leckonby, Esq., took a prominent part in the unfortunate wars
which raged ai this period and was engaged in the siege of Chesier
in 16437

For five gencrations the Leckonby family lived in the village,
grean landowners, honoured and respected, but the last member of
the family, another Richard, through sheer extravagance sguin-
dered the family fortune beyond recovery. In 1762, he was taken
to Lancaster castle and imprisoned for debt — and he spent the
21 years until his death in that grim fortress. He was buried in
5t Michaels Church with his wife, Mary Hathornthwaite, of
Catshaw a1 the head of Wyresdale, Not long after Richard
Leckonby was taken to Lancaster Castle, Leckonby House was
broken into and ravaged. Then, four years later, in 1766, it was
destroyed by fire.

The gateposts through which Richard Leckonby passed on his
way to Lancaster Castle still stand today, built into a newer wall,
and set in the wall of the present house is a plague inscribed
“RLM 1754" — inserted by Richard and Mary,



The Stone ineorted by Richord and Mary

They had onc son, William, but he died a year before his father
while hunting in Wyresdale. William married the daughter and
heiress of James Taylor of Goosnargh, and left three children —
Richard, who died aged 15, James, who died in infancy, and Mary,
the sole heiress, who marricd Thomas Henry Hele Phi of
Leighton House, Wiltshire, and who was High Sheriff of Wilishire
in 180, Among their children was Emma Mary Phipps, who lived
for many years al Leckoaby Cottage in Great Eccleston Square.
The cottage, on the left of the While Bull, has now been divided
in half, one half keeping the name Leckonby Cottage, the other
called Rose Cottage.

Meliss Pl]ipph. fuﬂu'p'rmg the fu.m'ﬂ_'r tradition. was & sirong
Roman Catholic and the cottapes still reflect her influence on
them, A front bedroom at Rose Collage was once a chapel and
has a polished wood ceiling and p-n]:isfxtd wooden panels round
the room. There is a large alcove in the room, pl:r]'lap-: the she of
an altar or image. Above the bend of the narrow stairs is another
alcove, this time a small one with a wooden shelf for flowers or
candles, and the uprights of the banisters, three circles of wood,
represent the Trinity, The porch at Rose Cottage is tiled with the
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rable of the sower, and in Leckonby Cottage tiles round the
ireplace represent night and day,

CRO55 HOLUSE

Crost Houge, wlibch stands od the comer al Lane Hepdy crons-
roads, s suppossd fo be haunied by the While Lady, Legend
exigls of a , dressed in white, appearing al a small attic
window overiooking the garden, and strange and unexplained noises
being heard in the bouse, but the tale has pever been substantiated.

It is possible that the tale arose because a family called White
lived there, * A History of the County of Lancashire * refers 1o a
John White, who died in July 1557, holding o capital messuage in
Great Eccleston of the heir William on in socage by 45
rent. Other sources refer o a family living there during the reign
of Henry VI, and a Thomas While living there in 1757,

VILLAGE MEMUORIES

The Hall family have long associations with the village and the
memoirs of Mrs, Carcline Filmer (nee Hall) — which have never
been published < give & vivid picture of village life in the | B s.

She recalled Queen Victoria's Coronation in 1837 when all the
pupils atiending a “Dames School™ were aken o the village
ware and given cat cakes and mugs of beer. (All the village
Idren guﬁ-_-red in the Women's Institute Hall for Queen
Elizabeth 11 Coronation and were given coronation mugs, bui mo
beer — ice cream was the order nf the day), During the harvest
and potato lifting scasons village children did mot go to school,
wrote Mrs. Filmer, instead they had to stay at home and help.

Looking at the well-surfaced roads, and the large number of
cars which a fine summer weekend draws to the village, Mrs
Filmer's description of travelling conditions seems unbelievable.
The three most important people in the countryside were the

the doctor and the farrier, * the two latler were (he users
of the bad, dirty roads and each one travelled in a gig . . . down
the cobbled street.” In the winter of 1890-91, Mrs. Filmer travelled
1o Greatl Eccleston from the South, The 8 a.m. train was delayed
by heavy snow and reached Preston at 5.30 pm., where M
Filmer caught another train 1o Kirkham, followed by a seven mile
journey in an open trap. “ The snow balled on the horse’s feet so
badly we had 1o get oul and scrape it out from its hooves . ., every
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10 minutes. It was getting on for midnight when we arrived home,”
she recalled,

Although the village is only 10 miles from Blackpool. a 3
which takes 20 minutes in a car today, Mrs. Filmer m .":“F}llll]::l:g
to the seaside until 1872 when she was taken there on the day of
her grandmother's funeral,

The Hall Family owned land in the West End, including the
tocal blacksmith's which they leased for 1s. 64, per week.

Mrs, Filmer's nicce, Miss Violet Hall, still lives in the famil
howss i West End. g

THOMAS BARROW

A famous local pasnter, Thomas Barrow, was preat-uncla (o
Mrs, Filmer, Bora in the mid 1700', he was a pupil of Romney's,
and possibly married Romney's sister. Mrs. Filmer recalled a
cottage called Barrows Cottage which had a well, * as well water
and what could be caught from the roofs was all the water that
wie available,” There is still a street called Barrows Lane,

Thomas Barrow painted a miniature of the 18th century poet
and schoolteacher, Peter Newby, Bomn in Kendal, Newby opened
a school at Burion-in-Kendal in 1773 and two years later mioved
to Great Ecclesion, where be staved until 1779-80, writing
six of his poems in the village,

In ker biography of Peter Newby, Jossphine Malone throws
some light on the life of Thomas Barrow, son of Matthew
Barrow, of Great Eccleston, he studied under Romney for -r;m:r
in London, then went to Yorkshire to clean some paintings for a
gentleman. He borrowed £15 from Rompey for the fare, but on
compheting the work was offered only ** washing, lodging and
provisions.” A lady in York felt sorry for him and commissioned
a fulllength I:mtm'n of ber son, then gave a party 1o show the
finished painting to her friends. As o result Thomas Barrow was
offered more work and earned £300 in one vear, sending some of
it home to his aged parents in Great Eccleston. By 1818 he was
back in Great Eccleston, and died there aged 84 in 1822,
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CHAPTER 111

Churches and Schools

From the 5t, Michaels-Blackpool road can be seen the Anglican
church of 5t Anne's, Copp, standing in a cluster of trees on a
small hill overlooking the village. Just off the village square, in
West End is the Methodist Chapel, but perhaps the most historic
of the village's three churches is 5. Mary's Roman Catholic
Church which stands in a leafy glade by tree-lined Hall Lane,
only o minute’s walk away from the Square.

As other local history books testify, the Fylde was a wvery
Roman Catholic area, members of that church withstandi
all attempts (o make them renounce their faith, 5t Mary's Cl'mr:g

and the Roman Cathelic faith have a long history in Great
Excleston.

An ol thatched building in Raikes Road (locally knovwn as
The Raikes) was the first Catholic Church in the village. A mass
centre formed from St Michaels, it o about |50 years afier
the Reformation — probably in 1686, first priest was the Rev,
William Caton, the son of Thomas and Helen Caton of Upper
Rawcliffe. He was sent 1o the ish college in Rome on
April 24th, 169, at the age of 19, re he was ordained sub-
deacon in February, deacon in April, and priest on May 2dth,
1699, He lefi the college on October 1s1, 1700, en roule for Paris
and shortly afterwards was appointed to Great Eccleston, There
wis a record of the thaltched building in 1872 when it was being

used as an outhouse by a local farmer, but today there 5 no
irace of it

In 1760, a new chapel was built and dedicated 1o 5i. Laurence
in Barrows Lane, Later it was enlarged and a gallery added. This
is now used as part of the present Day School Somelime after
1795 the priest at the time, the Rev, ry Parkinson, staried a
small school where his pupils included one or more of the sons
of William Fitzherbert-Brockholes of Claughton Hall, (The
Fitzlerbert-Brockholes family now live at the re-buili Hall, at
Claughton-on-Brock, near Garstang).
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ST. MARY'S CHURCH

Plans for the present church - dedicated 1o S5t Mary - and
presbytery were staried in 1832 and three years later the building
was opened. As with modern buildings, it a rs that either the
parish had under-estimated or the building fund had not reached
its target when the new l:.hun:h opened, for in * Our Country
Chu and Chapels™ by * Atticus ™ is recorded thar the
accounis for January Isi, 1837, showed £1,107 15s. 24d. had been
received for the building fund and payments of £1,238 55, had besn
made, An unremarkable brick exterior, the church contains many
links with the past,

The Silician marble aliar and r-um:h:n: t.ml:l-:d some 14 years
after the church was opened, was a gift from Miss Emma Ma
Phipps in memory of her mother, Ee last of the Leckonby's,
IA]'lhn:-u!:h all the evidence shows that Miss Phipps gave the altar,

inscription, in Latin, says “sorrowing sons™ so perhaps her
hmlh:m sll:imi the gift), According to tradition Mrs. Phipps had
six sons named after the six samts who are depicted in the reredos.

The County Records Office now have care of some very old
holy relics, which until 2 year ago were kept at the church. Perhaps
the oldest are two poriable altars, dating back 1o the 16th and 17th
centuries when Roman Catholics were persecuted. One ks a plain
slab of stone, measuring about six inches square, with a small
cross engraved in the centre. The other is wooden and has five
crosses, one in each cormer and one in the centre. These were
carried from house 10 house secretly when mass was said, There
are three chalices, the oldest in pewter with a matching
probably dating back to pre-penal days. One silver chalice is
probably late 18th century, while the other silver chalice, which is
lined with gokd and has a matching gold and silver paten, is
probably early 19th century,

During 1968-69, the parish priest since 1943, Father F. E.
Hampson, supervised E17,000-worth of alterations to the church.
Dark brown oak and brown paint have been replaced with i
paintwork, new pews and kneelers have replaced the old, ra
unstable omes and a pulpit has been installed. The old doorway at
the north end of the church has been made into an attractive
baptistry, with a new stained-glass window with blue surround,
with the font (dating back to the time the church was boilt
standing on white sione tiles. A new door with & pine-lined porc
.has been opened in the west wall, and three new windows put in.
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17th CENTURY COTTAGE

The owner of a white bungalow in Raikes Road had alwa
known it was old, but it wasn't until 1961 that allerations 1o
bouse brought to light o house within a house, Archacologisis
identified the older structure as about 500 old and of a
dﬁiﬁn once common in the Fylde. Beneath brick and plasier
of the modern bungalow were harel rods, clay and straw and six
A-shaped crucks. (A cruck is an ocak structure about 15ft, high,
which formed the main supports of 17th century cottages). One has
been removed from the cottage and is on display at the Harris
Museum, Preston, A typical cottage of this design had a main
living room, called the House, which was the centre of h:‘;r:;y
life and contained the only fire which was used for cooki
Behind the fire was a parlour, also used as the best bedroom., Bnﬁl
these rooms were open to the roof At the other end of the
cottage were two small service rooms, side by side, over which

wis a small loft used for storage or sbeeping and reached by a
ladder.

Changes come gradually in such a small community (the
estimated population in October, 1969, was 1,034), Only 15 years
ago a newcomer was greeted by name anly three days after moving
to the village. “ How did you know who 1 was? ™ asked the
amazed lady. = Oh! easy,” was the reply, * You're the only person
I don't know here, $0 you must be the newcomer.” Now a caravan
site and mew buildings have brough many new faces. but as they
say in the village, * You're nowt a villager unless you're bom
here” — and one old gentleman of 70-plus still maintains he's
not a villager although he has lived there from the age of three!

It was only a few years ago that the horse drawn milkeart
vanished from the roads, The local milklady, who wore long boots,
woollen beret and overall, summer and winter alike, dispensed
milk from & large churn with the aid of a pint measure, paying
no attention (o her horse which knew exactly where (o stop nexi
1 was lucky enough to be one of the local children who travelled
part of the round on the cart.

1 can also remember the roar of the forge and steady
hammering of the local blacksmith, and spent many a h:fw howur
watching the farmhorses being shod. But as the horses dwindled
s did business and now the hammering from the s:mlr]:f build
by Butts Lane is from the cobbler catering for a different kind

footwear 1o his predecessors.,
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Until 1841 the church had no burial ground and all burials
were at St Michaels, but during that year a yard was attached to
the church and a 1ower erected at the western end of the building,
In 1967 ancther piece of land was bought 1o extend the graveyarg
which then had only room for one more grave, and which ‘also
gave room for a garden of remembrance where cremation ashes

could be kept. The graveyard won the Blackburn Diocess Best
Kept Churchyard award in 1969,

A bell was bought from the churchwardens of Kirkham Parish
Church in 1846 for £70 145, 3d. — this is the * big bell™ The

smaller bell was probably the one used in the old chapel, but there
15 no trace of its osigin,

It was 126 years after the chapel was built that it was made
into & separate parish, although in all but name it had operated
as such for many wears. This required an Order in Council which
was made on January 15th, 1849, at the Court of Windsor, under
Queen Victoria, and made Great Eccleston, Elswick. Little
Eccleston and Larbreck into a separate parish. In the church's
Bicentenary booklet it says: * It is very probable that the whole
of the Fylde (Deanery of Amounderness) received little attention
from the Lord Bishop of Chester owing io the unwieldy size of
the Diocese, roughly including ithe whole of Lancashire and
Cheshire, with ions of five other counties.” In 1847, the Fylde
became part of the new Diocese of Manchester, and it was more
recently that it became part of the Diocese of Blackburn to which
it still belongs.

There is no trace of any musical instrument being used in the
church until 1841 when 145, was paid for a clarinet and 13s. for
a bass viel. At a later date a harmonium was purchased, but it
was not until 1226 that an organ was bought, It was a two-manual

organ, and in 1909 several new stops were added and the keyboard
moved (o its present position.

The church was completely restored in 1324 when a new chancel
wis built and the old arch widened. Open benches replaced the
closed pews and choir stalls were put in the chancel. The font was
moved from the body of the church and put in the old vestry,
which became the Bapiistry, and a mew vestry was built adjoining
the chancel. The old structure was built over with Yorkshire stone
parpoints and the tower raised to 456t The Caen stone and
alabaster marble allar was given in memory of 12 local men who
lost their lives during the First World War.

Residents of the parish paid a corn tithe to the Vicar of St
Michaels until 1820 when an Act of Parliament changed the law
and a money tithe instead of comn was inireduced, the money
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being collected annually by the Church Wardens of Great
Eccleston. Many residents in the villages covered by 5t Michaels
parish still pay a small sum annually, but others have redeemed
the tithe, Origmally this was the Vicar"s stipend.

BREQUESTS

There were several small bequests made to the church and
its school. In the will of William Fyld *of Great Eccleston yeoman™
aboul £250 wag left * for a master to teach poor children here or
in some other part of this township” in September, 1719, In “ The
Historic Motices of the Diocese of Chester ™ there is also mention
of Thomas Clitherall who left money for the vicar to “instruct 25
of the poorest children in Great Eccleston and Inskip-with-
Crossmore.” Reference is made to a school "erccted long ago,
f:“lﬁd Copp school, but endowed till lately, viz by one "William

:_ IlI

There was a school at Copp long before the chapel was built.
The Bicentenary booklet refers to a deed, dated 1686, transferring
a school known as “Northside™ to Thomas Stanbey. of Great
Eccleston, Richard Longworth, of Larbreck, and Henry France,
of Elwick, as Trustees for the inhabitants of Great Ecclesion,
Little Eccleston, Larbreck and Elswick. According to this docu-
ment, John Leckonby, of Great Eccleston, and William Leckonby,
of Ebswick, granted the school and land for £6 per annum “ on
the understanding that English and Latin were taught.”

In my research 1 found a reference to Lane Head School,
built by subscription on the site of one that fell down. The
only endowmeni was a rent charge of £5 supposed to have been
given by Thomas Clitherall. No children were taught free at this
school, which had 2040 pupils. But all my atiempts 1o substantiate
the date or exact whercabouts of this | have failed.

A of 1824 elaborates on the part of William Fyld's will
stating that poor children in Great Eccleston, Little Eccleston and
Larbreck could go to school free. The authorities had decided that
people who were assessed for window tax should not be considered
posor, and so were not entitled to the freedom of the school. (It is
interesting to mote that several of the old houses. including Wall
Farm, still have bricked up windows — a way people avoided
the tax),

Also under Fyld's will, dated 26th September, 1719, is provision
for Fyld's Dole, This provided for the sum of 1s-4s to be given
to the poor anaually on 5t. Thomas's Day by the overseer and
some of the older inhabitants. At first any poor people in the
parish benefited, but later it was restricted 1o those who were
“ gettled and living in the willage."
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William Gaulter lelt money — Gaulter's Charity — to be
divided annually between two poor widows, but ::n};pt for the
years 17T76-78 it was divided between seven to twelve women, This
charity is still distributed today — in the region of £3 10s. annually
just before Christmas.

Ellen Longworth, of Preston, in a will dated 19th November,
1789, left money, the interest to be used for buying and dis-
tributing bread on Sundays “for the use of the poor people
attending divine service at Copp Chapel.”

Jonathan Dobson the elder lefi £20 — Dobson's Dole — the
interest 1o be distributed among the poor of Great Eccleston every
al. Thomass Day.

In 1827, the school at Copp was under government inspection,
with an annual endowment of £50. Attendances varied from 70 in
summer (o about 95 in winter at the day school, with 50-60
attending Sunday School. In 1866, the school was transferred 1o
the Vicarage Barn and continued there until 1871, The Rev, W, C.
Dowding (Vicar) agreed 1o use the old school house as a bam
amnd, considering its uss, made no rent charge. This bam was
pulled down in July, 1966, 1T belbeve it was also at one tme the
villige titlhe barm. The mew school was opened in 1871 and a new
classroom added in 1888, More recently the school was again
extended and a kitchen added,

METHODISM

Weslevanism started in Great Ecclesion in 3 cotlage in West
End prior 1o 1827, moving to a bowse in Chesham Street and
then to a building in Chapel Street which later became a collage.

The foundation stone for the present chapel in West End was
laid im 1870 by the Rev, Chas. Williams of Accrington, who
preached at a service in the Club Room at Great Eccleston, When
completed it held 130 people. The cost of about £330 was raised on
the opening day — October 19th, 1871, The site was given by
Baron Chesham, a landowner in Great Eccleston, and Chesham
Strect was probably named after him,

The chapel was built by the Baptists from Inskip, but shortly
afterwards was taken over by the ists, It had mo regular
minister, the minister from Inskip keeping the two churches.
preaching at Inskip in the morning and Great Ecclesion in the
evening. Even now there is no resident Methodist minister, and
the minister from Pilling takes the Sunday services,

Only a few years ago, when renovations were done 0 the
chapel, a bottle containing old newspaper cuttings was found in
a wall. This was replaced with a bottle containing details of the
proposed amalgamation of the Anglican and Me 15t churches,
a plan of the Garstang Methodist Circuit, and the church’s diary
of events for that year.



CHAPTER 1V
Village Life, Yesterday and Today

Until more recent years people born in the village lived and
worked there all their lives, Great Eccleston still has no railway,
and, as mentioned before, only during the last 530 vears has had a
bus service, so all entertainment was made by the people. There is
still no gas in Great Eccleston, and electricity only came in 1932,
the first consumer being connected on December 18th that year,
just in time for Christmas, (Preston Corporation, who built the
first Ribble Power Station in 1921, were responsible for electricity
until it was nationalised in 1947},

Even today it is still very much a rural community, with
church events — whist and domino drives, coffee mornings and
rose quéen crownings — playing a large part in community life,
The Women's Institute caters for the women, while the menfolk
have their own organisation — the RAMS (Rural Arts Men's
Society),

The Women's Institute was formed in January, 1931, with 60
members and meetings were held in the Methodist Church, Right
from the start members lavnched a building fund and in six
months had collected E57 2s. 8d, Dances. concerts, sales of work
and many other events raised the money for their own hall which

was built in Chapel Street and opened in 1939,

The RAMS was not, strictly speaking, a village organization. It
wis formed about 10 wears ago by lecturers from B
Technical College and met in the White Bull, Fresh bread, baked
at the college, butter, cheese and pickles were a main feature of
the monthly mestings as well as a local speaker. From an initial
membership of 10 the sociely grew rapidly, with many of the
village men seizing the opportunity lo join, (More recently the
meetings have been held outside the village).

A meals-on-wheels service is run by the local Women's Roval

Violuntary Service, providing a cooked meal for the elderly and

and voung children are catered for by a pre-school

playgroup. For sports fans there are football and cricketl teams,

a very active athletic club and a bowling club. The Bowling club,

who have their greens down Hall Lane, have recently admitted
ls#dy members.
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By custom three cattle fairs were held in the village square on
15th March, 14th April and 4th November — the village Agricul-
tural Society show, wh-;h was held until the 1950%, was probably
formed by amalgamating these three fairs. Held annually in
late September, the last was the 99th. In 1969, local people re-
formed a show commitiee and plans are under way for holdin
the 100th. At the time of the last show the programme include
horse and cattle classes, sheep dog trials and horse jumping.

GALA DAY

~ Galas are still popular in country areas and have been revived
in some towns as big business, with firms entering decorated floats,
and *“professional ™ morris dancers who tour the north
to win medals. Great Eccleston's gala has avoided this
trend and kept its essentially village character, The morris dancers
are young people who live locally and train for their onc big
annual event — and if there is someone out of siep, well that's just
part of the village. Sad to say the old shire horses have now ﬁnrru
and tractors draw the gaily decorated trailers. Most of the village
children {and many of the adulis) take part cither on one of the

floats, in a fancy dress section or as part of the ross queen
retinue,

The crowning ceremony is held in the square, then the
procession moves up West End onto the main road — and it is
refreshing (o see the Blackpool-bound traffic halted while the

procession moves into Litle Eccleston and back through the
village tor the sguare.

Sports have always been a feature of gala day and the young-
sters have always taken the opportunity to win some of the small
cash prizes to supplement their money to spend on the fun fair,

The village squarte, hub of wvillage life, is not a troe square
In the 1 8th and early 19ih centuries houses were buili on the edpe of
it, encroaching onio the common land and changing the shape o
an irregular oval From the square & narrow fooipath. the i,
runs through to Chesham Street, along one side of which iz a very
old piece of wall. According to some of the older residents this
was one side of an old, narrow sireet, which had a coaching
house.
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17th CENTURY COTTAGE

The owner of a white bungalow in Raikes Road had alwa
kmown it was old, but it wasn't until 1961 that allerations 1o
house brought to light a house within a house, Archacologisis
identified the older structure as about 500 old and of a
design once common in the Fylde. Beneath brick and plaster
of the modern bungalow were hazel rods, clay and straw and six
A-shaped crocks. (A cruck s an oak structure about 15ft. high,
which formed the main supports of 17th century cottages). One has
been removed from the cotiage and is on display at the Harris
Mussum, Presion, A typical cotiage of this design had a main
living room, called the House, which was the centre of cmy
life and contained the only fire which was used for cooki
Behind the fire was a parlour, also used as the best bedroom., Bﬂl‘l
these rooms were open to the roof At the other end of the
cottage were two small service rooms, side by side, over which

was a small loft wsed for storage or skeeping and reached by a
ladder.

Changes come gradually in such a small community (the
estimated population in October, 1969, was 1,034), Only 15 years
ago a newcomer was greeted by name only three days after moving
to the village. ® How did you know who 1 was? " asked the
amazed lady. ™ Oh! easy,” was the reply, * You're the only person
I dont know here, £0 you must be the newcomer.” Mow a caravan
site and mew buildings have brough many new faces. but as they
say in the village, * You're nowt o villager unless you're bomn
here * — and one old gentleman of T0-plus still maintains he's
not & villager although he has lived there from the age of three!

It was cnly a few years ago that the horse drawn milkcart
vanished from the roads, The local milklady, who wore long boots,
woollen beret and overall, summer and winter alike, dispensed
milk from a large churn with the aid of a pint measure, paying
no attention to her horse which knew exactly where 10 si0p nextL
1 was lucky enough to be one of the local children who travelled
part of the round on the carl

1 can abo remember the roar of the forge and steady
hammering of the local blackemith, and spent many 4 had:py hour
watching the farmhorses being shod. But as the horses dwindled
o did business and now the hammering from the S:mll‘hf build
by Butts Lane is from the cobbler catering for a different kind
footwear 1o his predecessors,
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